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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to present the Annual Report for Massive Resources International
Corporation Ltd (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2006.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
For the financial year ended 30 June 2006, the Group recorded a turnover of HK$103,134,000 representing an
increase of 33.92% from a year ago (2005: HK$77,009,000). The Group’s audited profit attributable to shareholders
was HK$7,147,000 (2005: loss of HK$11,353,000). Earnings per share was HK0.06 cent (2005: loss of HK0.11 cent).
The Board of Directors has resolved not to pay a dividend for the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND LOOKING AHEAD
While 2006 was a challenge year, we nonetheless remain viligant. It was a year in which our pace of expansion
accelerated and our asset value continued to grow. This solid growth was contributed by all of the Group’s core
businesses as they continued to improve upon operational efficiency and deliver a steady performance.
Hong Kong’s popularity as cruise hub is evidenced by a mega project rolled out by the government to invite developers,
to build and manage a new cruise terminal with 50-year franchise, are expected to complete by the year 2012. This
will enhance Hong Kong to capture growth in cruise industry in the Asia-Pacific region, and to sustain its development
as a regional cruise hub.
The Board of directors envisages that there are enormous business opportunities that Cruise industry fuelled into
Hong Kong tourism together with steadfast support from the government in the coming few years. We hence decided
to trickling more resources in this direction.
A great deal of effort and preparation was undertaken by both management and ship staff during renovation and
refurbishment leading to the arrival of m.v. “Neptune” (the “Neptune”) in Hong Kong. “Neptune” is a multi-million dollar
investment by the Group in cruise ferry which sails from Hong Kong. She is a 10-deck cruise passenger ship furnished
to the very high standard of luxury, rooms are designed for customers’ comfort and style. It can accommodate 900
pax in maximum and is one of the most popular cruise ferries lying afloat in Victoria Harbour.
During the year under review, the profit contribution to the Group from Cruise revenue is more than 53% of Group’s
total profit and might continue rising by 9 to 10 percent next few years. Fusion with the reviving independent travelers
under Individual Visit Scheme from Mainland China, this shall stimulate a revival in visitor numbers to Cruise industry
and serve us well in the future.
On the hand, we learnt to adapt our new strategies, and to respond with cost-effective plans that successfully
controlled our manufacturing cost of electrical equipment resulting in an increase of return on capital.
Our clear business strategy is evident from our determination to seize the growth opportunities benefit from China’s
robust economic growth and rapid development and our commitment to excellence, we are confident in our ability to
meet all the challenges ahead and achieve further success.
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Chairman’s Statement

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
During the year, Mr. Chen Chak Man retired as Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company. During the
course of his tenure, he has been an instrumental force in supporting the tremendous growth of the Group over the
last few years. We would like to take this opportunity to express our gratitude for his dedication and contribution.
I am very grateful for the confidence that the board of directors have shown in me and given me the latitude to work
for the continuous development of our Group and for the benefit of the Company as a whole.
Looking ahead to year 2007, the Group will make remarkable stride in securing prosperous investment opportunities
for enhancing shareholders’ value. We take this opportunity to extend our thanks to our customers, our bankers, our
auditors, the staff members of the Group for their diligent, loyal service and contributions during the year. I look
forward to have a better future in the years to come.
Lin Cheuk Fung
Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, 24 October 2006
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
The audited net profit of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2006 amounted to HK$9,603,000.
The Board is at all times identifying suitable projects and/or investments that would be reasonably expected to
generate profits and/or have potential for capital appreciation. Should they be materialised, the consideration for such
projects and/or investments would be satisfied by means of the issue of new ordinary shares of the Company and/or
by being granted new and/or additional banking facilities.

MANUFACTURING AND TRADING ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT AND PROVISION OF
ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING AND CONTRACTING SERVICES
For the year ended 30 June 2006, the Group recorded a turnover of HK$76,134,000 in respect of the manufacturing
and the trading of electrical equipment and the provision of electrical engineering and contracting services. The Group
is adopting progressive strategy to expand its market share. Turnover of such business operations decreased by
approximately 1% as compared with those of last year and the gross profit increased by 16%.

TRADING OF LISTED INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES
For the year ended 30 June 2006, the Group recorded a turnover of HK$1,427,000 and realised a profit of HK$582,000
in respect of trading of listed investments in securities.

CRUISE BUSINESS
During the year under review, cruise business has contributed a principal income to the Group. Turnover for the
leasing of the cruise ship was recorded approximately HK$27,000,000, which accounted for approximately 26% of the
Group’s total turnover. Segment result amounted to approximately HK$12,000,000. The cruise business has been
operating since October 2005. It recorded a steady turnover and profit contribution to the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
For the financial year ended 30 June 2006, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$103,134,000 (2005:
HK$77,009,000), increase 33.9% compared to the previous year. Profit attributable to shareholders was HK$7,147,000
(2005: loss of HK$11,353,000).

DIVIDEND
The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2006 (2005: Nil).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at 30 June 2006, the total issued share capital of the Company was HK$247,952,600 divided into 12,397,630,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND FUNDING
The Group had net current assets of HK$30,087,000 as at 30 June 2006. Total bank and other borrowings amounted
to HK$2,092,000 as at 30 June 2006. The total equity of the Group as at year end was HK$240,716,000. The gearing
ratio, calculated on the basis of total liabilities over total shareholders’ funds as at 30 June 2006, was approximately
47%.

PLEDGE OF GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 30 June 2006, the leasehold land and buildings of a Group’s subsidiary with carrying amount of HK$5,438,000
were pledged to a bank for banking facilities. A subsidiary’s bank deposits of HK$4,451,000 had been pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the subsidiary.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2006, certain Hong Kong employees have achieved the required number of years of service to the
Group and the possible future long service payment to such employees amounted to HK$62,389 (2005: HK$1,572,000).
On 1 September 2004, a writ of summons and statement of claim was made by The Center (49) Limited against the
Company in respect of the office previously rented by the Group. The claim is for a sum of approximately HK$3.3
million together with interest and cost. In the opinion of the directors, the amount claimed is unreasonable. The Group
would vigorously contest against such claim. After obtaining legal advice, a provision of approximately HK$1.6 million
has been made in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2004. During the year ended 30 June 2006,
there has been no significant progress. As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the case is still
pending for hearing.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE RATES AND RELATED HEDGES
As the Group’s transactions are mostly settled by Hong Kong dollars, the exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation is
minimal, therefore no use of financial instruments for hedging purpose is considered necessary.
As at 30 June 2006, the Group did not have any foreign currency investments which have been hedged by currency
borrowings and other hedging instruments.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
As at 30 June 2006, the Group did not have any capital commitment.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment properties of the Group during the year are
set out in Note 15 and Note 16 to the financial statements respectively.

EMPLOYEES
The Group employs approximately 70 staff in Hong Kong. Total staff costs for the year under review amounted to
approximately HK$11,355,000. The Group’s remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market
terms and individual merit. Salaries are normally reviewed on an annual basis based on performance appraisals and
other relevant factors.
The Company maintains a share option scheme under which share options may be granted to certain eligible directors
and full-time employees.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT
Subsequent to the year end date, the convertible notes holders, Mr. Chan Yan To and Ms. Lam Wai Han have
confirmed to extend the repayment of the principal amount of convertible notes together with interest to 21 October
2007 and all terms and conditions of the convertible notes will remain unchanged.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE
Details of the disposal of subsidiary and joint venture during the year are set out in Notes 40 and 23 to the financial
statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lin Cheuk Fung, aged 33, was appointed as an executive director on 21 June 2005 and re-designated as the
chairman of the Board of the Company on 8 June 2006. Mr. Lin has over 10 years of experience in a number of
business activities ranging from garment industry, automobile business, property investment, cruise ship operation to
casino operation. Currently, he is also the director of Yan Oi Tong, Hong Kong Commerce & Industry Association Ltd.
and the vice president of The Association of Industries and Commerce of N.E. New Territories. The Board is of the
view that Mr. Lin’s extensive business experience is valuable to the Group and will, in the long run, assist the Group to
diversify into other areas of business.
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung, aged 60, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 11 October 2001. He is
the brother of Mr. Lau Kwok Keung, an executive director of the Company. Mr. Lau holds a Senior Executive Master
Degree in Business Administration from Charles Darwin University. He is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has over 25 years of experience in accounting and finance, auditing, taxation,
company secretarial practice and corporate finance. He is also the company secretary of the Company.
Mr. Chan Shiu Kwong, Stephen, aged 50, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 20 April
2005. Mr. Chan holds a Master degree in Professional Accounting and a Bachelor of Commerce. He is currently a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators,
the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries and CPA (Australia). Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in
property development, manufacturing and travel related industries. He has previously served a number of multinational
companies as chief financial personnel and many local public listed companies as a project financial manager and
these attribute to his profound experience in merger and acquisition in PRC infrastructure.
Mr. Lau Kwok Keung, aged 58, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 13 May 2003. He is the
brother of Mr. Lau Kwok Hung, an executive director of the Company. Mr. Lau graduated from the Faculty of Social
Sciences, University of Hong Kong majoring in economics, accounting and business management. He also holds a
Master Degree in Law from Renmin University of China. He has over 25 years of experience in manufacturing, trading,
property development and securities investments.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chow Pui Fung, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive director and a member of the audit
committee of the Company on 13 May 2003. Mr. Chow is a merchant and has been in the business of securities
investments, shipping and import & export for years.
Mr. Yue Fu Wing, aged 38, was appointed as an independent non-executive director and a member of the audit
committee of the Company on 15 January 2005. Mr. Yue is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has a Master
Degree in PRC Accounting from Jinan University in China and a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yue has over 10 years experience in accounting and finance. He has worked for a multinational company, a Hong Kong listed company and an international accounting firm.
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Mr. Wong Yuk Man, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive director and a member of the audit
committee of the Company on 1 March 2006. Mr. Wong graduated from Chu Hai College with a Master Degree in Arts
and was a Professor of the Department of Journalism and Communication at Chu Hai College between 1988 and
1992. Formerly, he was the editorial chief of the Express Daily and the publisher of Sing Pao, and has worked as a
current affair programme host for Asia Television Limited, Television Broadcast Limited, Hong Kong Cable TV Limited
and Commercial Radio Hong Kong, and has more than 30 years of experience in the mass media industry. He was
also the chairman of hkcyber.com (Holdings) Limited, a Hong Kong listed company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Various businesses and functions of the Company are respectively under the direct responsibilities of the executive
directors who are regarded as senior management of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
All those provisions as set out in the Code of Corporate Governance Practices in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the
“CGP Code”) which provides guidelines to reinforce our corporate governance principles, had been adopted by the
Board. The company had complied throughout the year with all code provisions of CGP Code, with the exception of
certain deviations to be discussed below.
–

Non-executive Directors should be appointed for specific terms and subject to re-elections. All Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for specific terms, but subject to retirement by
rotations and re-elections at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with Bye-Laws of the
Company.

–

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are not separated. The Board believes that
it is more effective for the titles “Chairman” and “Chief Executive Officer” be vested in one person based on the
Company’s on-going business practice and experience. The Board is of the view that it is in the interest of the
Company to have the benefit of a chairman who is knowledgeable about the business of the Group.

–

The Board is of the opinion that establishment of a remuneration committee as required by code provision
B.1.1 is not, for the time being, justified after careful consideration of the size of the Group and the associated
costs involved. The basis of determining the emoluments payable to its directors and senior management by
the Company is by reference to individual duties and market practices.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the directors. Following specific
enquiry, all directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year under review.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
During the year ended 30 June 2006, the Board comprised four executive directors, and three independent nonexecutive directors. The biographical details of the directors are set out on pages 8 and 9 of this Annual Report. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-executive directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive directors to be independent.
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Seven board meetings were held during the financial year ended 30 June 2006. Details of Directors’ attendance
records are set out below:
Attendance of
Board meetings
Executive directors
Mr. Lin Cheuk Fung

7/7

Mr. Lau Kwok Hung

7/7

Mr. Chan Shiu Kwong Stephen

7/7

Mr. Lau Kwok Keung

7/7

Mr. Chen Chak Man (Resigned on 8 June 2006)

6/7

Ms. Chik Siu Yin Urica (Resigned on 21 January 2006)

3/7

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Chow Pui Fung

7/7

Mr. Yue Fu Wing

6/7

Mr. Wong Yuk Man (Appointed on 1 March 2006)

1/7

Mr. Hung Shui Nam (Resigned on 1 March 2006)

4/7

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group. It formulates objectives, overall strategies and
business plans and oversees the financial and management performance of the Group. For efficient operation, day-today functions and authorities are delegated to the management. It includes implementation of objectives, strategies
and plans adopted by the Board and the day-to-day management of the Group’s business.

CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are not separated. The Board believes that it is
more effective for the titles “Chairman” and “Chief Executive Officer” be vested in one person based on the Company’s
on-going business practice and experience.
The Board will evaluate from time to time this situation to ensure that the arrangement will continue to be in interests
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
It is also in line with the conclusion reached by certain independent academic researchers that separation between
the roles “Chairman” and “Chief Executive Officer” as a philosophical rule does not improve corporate performance.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS
The Board is responsible for the formulation of nomination policies, making recommendations to shareholders on
directors standing for re-election, providing sufficient biographical details of directors to enable shareholders to make
an informed decision on the re-election, and where necessary, nominating appropriate persons to fill causal vacancies
or as additions to the Board. The Chairman from time to time reviews the composition of the Board with particular
regard to ensuring that there is an appropriate number of directors on the Board independent of management. He
also identifies and nominates qualified individuals for appointment as new directors of the Company.
New directors of the Company will be appointed by the Board. The Board will take into consideration criteria such as
expertise, experience, integrity and commitment when considering new director appointments.
On 1 March 2006, Mr. Wong Yuk Man was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director and a Member of the
Audit Committee to replace Mr. Hung Shui Nam who resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director and Member
of the Audit Committee due to personal reasons.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The fees in relation to the audit and other services provided to the Company and its subsidiaries by external auditors
of the Group, amounted approximately to HK$723,000 and HK$123,000 respectively. The non-audit services mainly
consist of review and taxation services.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chow Pui Fung, Mr. Yue Fu
Wing and Mr. Wong Yuk Man. Mr. Yue Fu Wing possesses relevant professional qualifications and financial management
expertise and meets the requirements of rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
Three Audit Committee meetings were held during the financial year ended 30 June 2006. Attendance of the Members
is set out below:
Attendance of Audit
Members

Committee meetings

Mr. Chow Pui Fung

3/3

Mr. Yue Fu Wing

3/3

Mr. Wong Yuk Man (Appointed on 1 March 2006)

2/3

Mr. Hung Shui Nam (Resigned on 1 March 2006)

1/3

On 1 July 2005, the terms of reference were revised to align with the provisions under the CGP provision.
Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee has reviewed the financial process and the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal controls system.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the audit committee during the year:
–

reviewed the Group’s unaudited interim report for the six months ended 31 December 2005 and audited
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006;

–

reviewed internal control and risk management framework; and

–

considered to the Board for adoption of new accounting standards.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the accounts which were prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. A statement by the auditors about their reporting
responsibilities is set out on page 21 of this annual report.
There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

INVESTOR RELATIONS & COMMUNICATION
To promote the relationship between the Company and investor and to enhance the transparency of the operation of
the enterprise, the Board is committed to providing clear and updated information on the Company to shareholders
through the publication of notices, circulars, interim and annual reports to shareholders.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the system of internal controls of the Company and for
reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implementing an effective and sound internal controls system to safeguard
the interests of shareholders and the assets of the Group.
The Board has developed a framework to identifying the significant risks and how to cope with changes in business
and external environment.
The Board has entrusted the audit committee with the responsibility to conduct an annual review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control of the Group.
The committee has reviewed the implementation of the system of internal controls and reviewing of all material
controls including financial, operational, compliance controls and risk management functions.
The Board takes extreme precautionary measures in the handling of price-sensitive information. Such information is
restricted to a need-to-know basis.
Management is currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal audit function within the
Group in light of the size, nature, and complexity of the Group’s business. The situation will be reviewed from time to
time.
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Report of the Directors

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited financial statements of Massive
Resources International Corporation Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2006.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 20 to financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group’s turnover and contribution to results by principal activities and geographical area of
operations for the year ended 30 June 2006 is set out in Note 6 to financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, the five largest customers accounted for approximately 52% (2005: 39%) of the Group’s
total turnover and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 62% (2005: 68%) of the Group’s total
purchases.
The largest customer accounted for approximately 26% (2005: 21%) of the Group’s total turnover and the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 22% (2005: 23%) of the Group’s total purchases.
None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder (who to the knowledge of the directors own more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2006 and the state of affairs of the Group and the Company at
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 22 to 83.
The directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 2006 (2005: Nil).

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in Note 31 to financial
statements.
As at 30 June 2006, the Company did not have available reserves for distribution to shareholders (2005: Nil) in
accordance with the provisions of section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out below:

Results
Year ended 30 June

Turnover
Operating (loss)/profit from ordinary activities
Taxation charge for the year
(Loss)/profit before minority interests
Minority interests
(Loss)/profit for the year

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

103,991

88,864

54,494

77,009

103,134

(48,989)

(44,466)

(25,720)

(10,608)

10,650

(417)

(759)

(76)

(366)

(49,406)

(45,225)

(25,796)

(10,974)

(306)

(54)

(79)

(379)

(49,712)

(45,279)

(25,875)

(11,353)

7,147

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

140,073

116,660

152,434

286,054

354,521

(44,167)

(47,979)

(21,230)

(55,218)

(113,805)

(7,850)

(7,904)

(7,983)

(8,386)

(10,842)

88,056

60,777

123,221

222,450

(1,047)
9,603
(2,456)

Assets and Liabilities
At 30 June

Total assets
Total liabilities
Minority interests
Shareholders’ funds

229,874

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in Note 15 to
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital during the year are set out in Note 30 to financial statements.
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BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED
All borrowings which are repayable within one year or on demand are classified as current liabilities.
No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Lin Cheuk Fung (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung
Mr. Chan Shiu Kwong, Stephen
Mr. Lau Kwok Keung
Mr. Chen Chak Man

(Resigned on 8 June 2006)

Ms. Chik Siu Yin, Urica

(Resigned on 21 January 2006)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chow Pui Fung
Mr. Yue Fu Wing
Mr. Wong Yuk Man

(Appointed on 1 March 2006)

Mr. Hung Shui Nam

(Resigned on 1 March 2006)

In accordance with Articles 79 and 80 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lau Kwok Hung, Mr. Lau Kwok
Keung, Mr. Chow Pui Fung and Mr. Wong Yuk Man shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for reelection.
The terms of office of non-executive directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the above
Articles.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(i)

Shares
As at 30 June 2006, the interests of the directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), or as otherwise notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies were as follows:
Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Director

Nature of interest

Mr. Lin Cheuk Fung

Personal

Number of ordinary

Percentage of

shares held

shares held

1,500,000,000

12.10%

Note:

Save as disclosed above and other than certain nominee shares in the subsidiaries held by directors in trust for the
Company, none of the Company’s directors or their associates had any interests, or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

(ii)

Options
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) under which the directors may, at their discretion,
grant options to employees, including any of the directors of the Company, to subscribe for shares in the
Company, subject to the stipulated terms and conditions.
As at 30 June 2006, none of the directors of the Company had any interests in options to subscribe for shares
granted under the Scheme.
Save as disclosed above, none of the Company’s directors and chief executives, or their spouses or children
under the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any such
rights during the year.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 30 November 2000 enables the directors and employees of
the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company, details of which are set out in Note 30 to financial statements. The
share option scheme was adopted prior to the new rules on share option schemes under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange coming into operation. The Company may only grant
further options under the share option scheme if the options are granted in accordance with the requirement of the
new rules of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or
debenture of the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries and associates as at 30 June 2006 are set out in Notes 20 and 22 to financial
statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
A management services contract was made on the 1st day of October 2005 between Walden Maritime S.A. and the
Company for a period of two years. Under this contract, the Company shall be paid a management fee of HK$500,000
per month.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO
As at 30 June 2006, the following interest of 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
No. of ordinary

Percentage of

shares held

shares held

Mr. Chim Pui Chung (Note)

1,835,960,000

14.81%

Mr. Lin Cheuk Fung

1,500,000,000

12.10%

Name of shareholders

Note:

These shares were held as to 1,264,220,000 shares by Gallery Land Ltd (a company wholly owned by Mr. Chim Pui Chung),
as to 568,800,000 shares by Golden Mount Ltd (a company wholly owned by Mr. Chim Pui Chung) and as to 2,940,000
shares held by Mr. Chim Pui Chung.

Details of the above interests of Mr. Lin Cheuk Fung are also disclosed above under directors’ interests in securities.
Save as disclosed above, no person had registered an interest of 5% or more of the share capital of the Company
that was required to be recorded under Section 336 of the SFO as at 30 June 2006.

CONNECTED/RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of other related party transactions of the Group are set out in Note 38 to financial statements.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Details of biographical details of directors and senior management are set out on pages 8 to 9 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEME
Details of the retirement scheme of the Group and the employer’s pension costs charged to the consolidated income
statement for the year are set out in Note 36 to financial statements. In the opinion of the directors, the Group had no
significant obligations at 30 June 2006 for long service payments to its employees pursuant to the requirements under
the Employment Ordinance.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
In the opinion of the directors, the Company was in compliance with the provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), throughout the accounting year covered
by the financial statements, except for code provisions A.2.1, A.4.1 and B1.1 details of which are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 10 to 13 of this annual report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES BY DIRECTORS
The Company has complied with the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors on terms no
less exacting than the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the code of conduct
regarding securities transaction by the Directors adopted by the Company. Details of compliance with the Model Code
by directors are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 10 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee, comprising three members, all being Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company, has
reviewed with management the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters including the review of the Group’s financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2006.

AUDITORS
Messrs HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be
submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint Messrs HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng as auditors of the Company.

On Behalf of the Board

Lin Cheuk Fung
Chairman
Hong Kong, 24 October 2006
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Report of the Auditors

31/F Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street
Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MASSIVE RESOURCES INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
We have audited the financial statements on pages 22 to 83 which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS
The Hong Kong Companies Ordinance requires the directors to prepare financial statements which give a true and fair
view. In preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently.
It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements and to report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

BASIS OF OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments
made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and the Group, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group
as at 30 June 2006 and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 October 2006
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2006

Notes

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)

Turnover

7

Cost of sales
Gross profit

103,134

77,009

(79,743)

(67,198)

23,391

9,811

Other revenue

7

4,112

1,432

Other income

8

948

500

Distribution costs
Administrative expenses

(1,174)

(1,462)

(15,401)

(20,760)
(10,479)

Profit/(loss) from operating activities

8

11,876

Finance costs

9

(1,226)

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Taxation

10,650
12

Net profit/(loss) for the year

(1,047)

(129)
(10,608)
(366)

9,603

(10,974)

2,456

379

7,147

(11,353)

9,603

(10,974)

0.06 cent

(0.11) cent

N/A

N/A

Attributable to
– Minority interests
– Equity holders of the Company

13

Net profit/(loss) for the year
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable
to equity holders of the Company

14

– Basic
– Diluted

All of the Group’s activities are classified as continuing.
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

15

179,872

101,053

Investment properties

16

28,400

27,700

Prepaid land premiums

17

2,643

2,714

Development costs

18

–

330

Goodwill

19

45

45

210,960

131,842

Current assets
Inventories

25

16,355

14,397

Trade and other receivables

27

34,685

24,377

Amount due from a related company

33

710

830

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

24

567

1,257

4,451

3,000

Cash at securities company

54,419

94,138

Cash and bank balances

32,374

16,213

143,561

154,212

354,521

286,054

Pledged bank deposits

Total assets
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to
the Company’s equity holders
Share capital

30

247,953

247,953

Reserves

31

(18,079)

(25,503)

229,874

222,450

10,842

8,386

240,716

230,836

Minority interests
Total equity
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
At 30 June 2006

Notes

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings

37

–

1,627

Deferred tax liabilities

12

331

–

331

1,627

Current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings

37

2,092

771

Trade and other payables

28

39,065

20,983

Convertible notes

29

39,765

–

Amount due to a minority shareholder

32

29,100

29,100

3,452

2,737

113,474

53,591

Total liabilities

113,805

55,218

Total equity and liabilities

354,521

286,054

30,087

100,621

241,047

232,463

Taxation

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 October 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

Lau Kwok Hung

Chan Shiu Kwong, Stephen

Director

Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in subsidiaries

Notes

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000
(Restated)

15
20

520
177,874

452
159,152

178,394

159,604

54,418
3,429
1,604

94,138
1,628
–

59,451

95,766

237,845

255,370

247,953
(54,008)

247,953
1,078

193,945

249,031

1,895
39,765
2,240

4,069
–
2,270

43,900

6,339

237,845

255,370

15,551

89,427

193,945

249,031

Current assets
Cash at securities company
Cash and bank balances
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Total assets
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to
the Company’s equity holders
Share capital
Reserves

30
31

Total equity
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Convertible notes
Amount due to a subsidiary

28
29
34

Total equity and liabilities
Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 October 2006 and signal on its behalf by:

Lau Kwok Hung
Director

Chan Shiu Kwong, Stephen
Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2006

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share

Convertible

Non-

Share

premium

notes distributable Accumulated

Sub

Minority

capital

account

reserve

reserve

losses

total

interest

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

(Restated)
At 1 July 2004, as
previously reported

181,627

17,198

–

2,264

(77,868)

123,221

–

123,221

–

–

–

–

–

–

7,983

7,983

Balance at 1 July 2004,
as previously separately
reported as minority
interests
Net loss for the year

–

–

–

–

(11,353)

(11,353)

–

(11,353)

66,326

46,153

–

–

–

112,479

–

112,479

Share issue expenses

–

(1,897)

–

–

–

(1,897)

–

(1,897)

Minority interests

–

–

–

–

–

–

403

403

247,953

61,454

–

2,264

(89,221)

222,450

8,386

230,836

247,953

61,454

–

2,264

(89,221)

222,450

8,386

230,836

– equity component

–

–

277

–

–

277

–

277

Net profit for the year

–

–

–

–

7,147

7,147

2,456

9,603

247,953

61,454

277

2,264

(82,074)

229,874

10,842

240,716

Issue of shares

At 30 June 2005,
as restated
At 1 July 2005 as per above
Convertible notes

At 30 June 2006

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2006

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before taxation

10,650

(10,608)

Adjustments for:
Interest income

(2,864)

(264)

(155)

5,050

(700)

(500)

(53)

–

Fair value (gain)/loss of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Fair value gain on investment properties
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Gain on disposal of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(582)

–

(40)

–

Amortisation

401

674

Depreciation

15,503

887

Finance costs

1,226

128

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

198

–

Impairment loss recognised on obsolescence of inventories

203

–

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade and other receivables

264

129

24,051

(4,504)

(2,161)

(3,691)

(10,572)

(6,872)

Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade and other receivables
Decrease in amount due from a related company

120

–

Increase in trade and other payables

17,253

5,866

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

28,691

(9,201)

2,864

264

–

(69)

31,555

(9,006)

Interest received
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2006

Notes

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment

(94,769)

(32)

Cash effect on acquisition of a subsidiary

–

(20,000)

Dividend received

2

–

Proceed from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Cash effect of disposal of a subsidiary

40

Proceeds from disposal of securities
Increase in pledged bank deposits
Net cash outflow from investing activities

265

–

(53)

–

1,427

–

(1,451)

–

(94,579)

(20,032)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of shares, net of expenses
Proceeds from issue of convertible notes
Issue cost of convertible notes

–

62,583

40,000

–

(100)

Repayment of obligations under finance leases

–

–
(430)

Repayment of loans

(500)

(503)

Finance costs paid

(128)

(128)

Net cash inflow from financing activities

39,272

61,522

Net cash (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(23,752)

32,484

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

110,017

77,533

86,265

110,017

Cash and bank balances

32,374

16,213

Cash at securities company

54,419

94,138

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents:

Bank overdrafts, unsecured

37

(528)
86,265

(334)
110,017

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

28

Massive Resources International Corporation Limited • Annual Report 2006

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated in Hong Kong as a public limited company and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The registered office of the Company is located at Units 1205-06, 12th
Floor, Office Tower Two, The Harbourfront, 18-22 Tak Fung Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries are leasing of the 70% owned cruise, the
manufacturing and trading of electrical equipment, the provision of electrical engineering and contracting
services, the trading of listed securities and property investments.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and applicable disclosure
provisions of The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except otherwise indicated.
The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs which are effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2005. A summary of the effect on initial adoption of these new and revised
HKFRSs is disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
Judgments made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are discussed in Note
5 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
A summary of the significant accounting policies followed by the Group in the preparation of the financial
statements is set out below:

(a)

Basis of preparation
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is historical cost as modified
for the revaluation of financial instruments and investment properties which are carried at fair value.

(b)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 30 June 2006.
Where a subsidiary operates under severe restrictions which significantly impair control by the Group
over its assets and operations for the foreseeable future, the Group’s interest in the subsidiary is stated
in the consolidated financial statements at the amount at which it would have been included under the
equity method of accounting at the date on which the restrictions came into force, less provision for any
subsequent impairment in value.
The results of the subsidiaries and associates acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated income statement from the effective dates of acquisition and up to the effective dates
of disposal, as appropriate.
Intra-group transactions and balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Minority interests representing the interests of outside shareholders in the net assets and operating
results of subsidiaries.

(c)

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group
interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary or associate at the date of
acquisition.
Following on the adoption of HKFRS 3 “Business Combination”, the Group ceased amortisation of
goodwill from 1 July 2005. All accumulated amortisation of goodwill would be eliminated with a
corresponding decrease in the cost of goodwill. From the year ended 30 June 2006 onwards, goodwill
is tested annually for impairment.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash generating unit (“CGU”) expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. CGU to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the
CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying.
Goodwill arising from acquisition of an associate is included within the carrying amount of the investment
and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d)

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities in which the Company, directly or indirectly, controls the composition of
the board of directors, controls more than half the voting power or holds more than half of the issued
share capital.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of
any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of
the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income
statement
In the financial statements of the Company, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received or receivable.

(e)

Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s
investment in associates includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on
acquisition.
The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
An associate is an enterprise in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint
control, and thereby has the ability to participate in their financial and operating policy decisions.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
In the Company’s balance sheet the investments in associated companies are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses. The results of associated companies are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(f)

Joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity which is subject to joint control and none of the participating parties has unilateral control over
the economic activity.
The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entity are accounted for by proportionate consolidation. The
Group combines its share of the joint venture’s individual income and expenses, assets and liabilities
and cash flows on a line-by-line basis with similar items in the Group’s financial statements. The Group
recognises the portion of gains or losses on the sale of assets by the Group to the joint venture that it is
attributable to the other venturers. The Group does not recognise its share of profits or losses from the
joint venture that result from the Group’s purchase of assets from the joint venture until it resells the
assets to an independent party. However, a loss on the transaction is recognised immediately if the loss
provides evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of current assets, or an impairment loss.
In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in jointly controlled entities are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses. The results of jointly controlled entities are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

(g)

Recognition of revenue
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:
i.
ii.

Sale of products is recognised when goods are delivered and title has been passed.
When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue from fixed price
construction contracts is recognised on the percentage of completion method, measured by
reference to the percentage of revenue certified to date to estimated total contract value. When
the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable that the costs incurred will be
recovered.

iii.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Company’s rights to receive payment
has been established.

iv.

Sale of securities is recognised when securities are traded on the trade day basis.

v.

Interest income from bank deposit is recognised on a time apportioned basis on the principal
outstanding and at the rates applicable.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g)

Recognition of revenue (Continued)
vi.

Services income is recognised when the services are rendered.

vii.

Cruise leasing income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with terms of the leasing
agreement.

(h)

Property, plant and equipment
Building held for own use which are situated on leasehold land, where the fair value of the building
could be measured separately from the fair value of the leasehold land at the inception. Buildings and
cruise ship are shown at fair value, based on periodic, but at least triennial, valuations by external
independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated
to the revalued amount of the asset. All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis to write-off the cost of each items of property, plant
and equipment less their estimated realisable value, if any, over their estimated useful lives at the
following annual rates:
Buildings

:

Over the term of the leases

Leasehold improvement

:

20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

:

15% to 20%

Plant and machinery

:

15%

Motor vehicles

:

25%

Cruise ship

:

5%

The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

(i)

Investment properties
Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not
occupied by the companies in the consolidated Group, is classified as investment property.
Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i)

Investment properties (Continued)
After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market
prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific
asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent
prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. These valuations are performed in
accordance with the guidance issued by the International Valuation Standards Committee. These
valuations are reviewed annually by external valuers.
The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases
and assumptions about rental income from future leases in the light of current market conditions.
The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in respect of
the property. Some of those outflows are recognised as a liability, including finance lease liabilities in
respect of land classified as investment property; others, including contingent rent payments, are not
recognised in the financial statements.
Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the income statement
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Changes in fair values are recognised in the income statement.

(j)

Leases
(a)

Operating lease
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are expensed in the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.

(b)

Finance lease
Leases of assets where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the
lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to
achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations,
net of finance charges, are included in current and non-current borrowings. The interest element
of the finance cost is recognised in the income statement over the lease period so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The
investment properties acquired under finance leases are carried at their fair value.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(k)

Intangible assets
Development costs
Expenditure on research and development is charged to the consolidated income statement in the year
in which it is incurred except where a major project is undertaken and it is reasonably anticipated that
development costs will be recovered through future commercial activity. Such development costs are
deferred and written off over the life of the project from the date of commencement of commercial
operation.

(l)

Financial instruments
Financial assets
For the year ended 30 June 2005:
The Group classified its equity investments, other than investment in subsidiaries, as investment in
securities.
Investment in securities are measured at fair value. At each balance sheet date, the net unrealised gains
or losses arising from the changes in the fair value of investment securities are recognised in the income
statement. Profit or losses on disposal of investment securities, representing the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amounts, are recognised in the income statement as they arise.
From 1 July 2005 onwards:
Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classifies into financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets, as
appropriate. The classifications depend on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this
designation at every reporting date.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss”. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of sale in the near term. Gains or losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised in the income statement.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivatives financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when loans and receivables are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(l)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Held to maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. During the year, the Group did not hold any investments in this category.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are not derivative that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction
costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Investments are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are included in the income statement in the
period in which they arise. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of nonmonetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity. When securities classified
as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the
income statement as gains or losses from investment securities.
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset
is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.
These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models refined to reflect the
issuer’s specific circumstances.
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available for
sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in
determining whether the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial
assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the income statement
– is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the
income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(l)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified into financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss and other financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in
respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, include financial liabilities held for trading. At each
balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount due to minority shareholder,
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. The
fair value of the liability portion of a convertible note is determined using a market interest rate for an
equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or maturity of the notes. The remainder of the proceeds allocated to the
conversion option. This is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects.
Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

(m)

Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Interests-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interests-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
different between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the period
of borrowing using the effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n)

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and the net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs
of purchase and, where applicable, costs of conversion and other costs that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, is calculated using the first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(o)

Construction contracts
When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract costs are charged to
the consolidated income statement by reference to the stage of the completion of the contract activity
at the balance sheet date on the same basis as the contract revenue is recognised.
When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised
as an expense in the year in which they are incurred.
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.
Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress
billings, the surplus is shown as an amount due from customers for contract work. For contracts where
progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is shown as an amount due to customers for contract work. Amounts received before the
related work is performed are included in the balance sheet, as a liability, as advance received. Amounts
billed for work performed, but not yet paid by the customer, are included in the balance sheet within
trade and other receivables.

(p)

Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation, which are at least tested
annually for impairment and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(q)

Foreign currency translation
(i)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK dollars, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii)

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income
statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.
Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equity instruments held at fair value
through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation difference on
non-monetary items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included
in the fair value reserve in equity.

(iii)

Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(1)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

(2)

income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions); and

(3)

all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(r)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years, and it further excludes income statement items that are never taxable or
deductible.
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
difference can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial recognition (other than a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investment in subsidiaries
and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the liability is
settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when
it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with
in equity.

(s)

Related party transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant
influence. Related parties may be individuals (being member of key management personnel, significant
shareholders and/or their close family members) or other entities and include entities which are under
the significant influence of related parties of the Group where those parties are individuals, and postemployment benefit plans which are for the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.
A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.

40

Massive Resources International Corporation Limited • Annual Report 2006

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(t)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash equivalents include cash at bank, short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have
a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

(u)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and
a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each
balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value
of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligations.

(v)

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within
the control of the Group. Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an
asset is recognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(w)

Retirement benefits scheme
(i)

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, leave passage and the cost to the Group of nonmonetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees of the Group. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii)

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as required under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and to the state-managed retirement benefits schemes for
the employees of the Group’s entities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are recognised
as an expense in the consolidated income statement as incurred.

(iii)

The Group operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The financial
impact of share options granted under the share option scheme is not recorded in the Group’s
balance sheet until such time as the options are exercised, and no charge is recorded in the
consolidated income statement or consolidated balance sheet for their cost. Upon the exercise
of share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded by the Company as additional share
capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share over
the nominal value of the shares is recorded by the Company in the share premium account.
Options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date, or which lapse, are deleted from the
register of outstanding options.

(x)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are interests and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. All
borrowing costs are charged to the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

(y)

Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that
are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical
segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic
environments.
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3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(i)

Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs
In the year ended 30 June 2006, the Group adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs which are
relevant to its operations. The 2005 comparatives have been amended as required, in accordance with
the relevant requirements.
HKAS 1

Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 7

Cash Flow Statements

HKAS 8

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

HKAS 10

Events after the Balance Sheet Date

HKAS 11

Construction Contracts

HKAS 12

Income Taxes

HKAS 14

Segment Reporting

HKAS 16

Property, Plant and Equipment

HKAS 17

Leases

HKAS 18

Revenue

HKAS 19

Employee Benefits

HKAS 21

The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

HKAS 23

Borrowing Costs

HKAS 24

Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 27

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

HKAS 32

Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation

HKAS 33

Earnings per Share

HKAS 36

Impairment of Assets

HKAS 37

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

HKAS 38

Intangible Assets

HKAS 39

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

HKAS 40

Investment Property

HK – Int 3

Revenue – Pre Completion Contracts for the Sale of Development Properties

HK – Int 4

Leases – Determination of the Length of Lease Term in respect of Hong Kong Land Leases

HK – Int 12

Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities

HK – Int 12

Amendment Scope of HKAS – Int 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities

HKAS – Int 15

Operating Leases – Incentives

HKAS – Int 21

Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Non Depreciable Assets

HKFRS 2

Share-based Payment

HKFRS 3

Business Combinations
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3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i)

Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)
The adoption of the above HKFRSs has no material impact on the accounting policies and the results
and financial position of the Group, except for the following:
(a)

HKAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements
HKAS 1 has affected the presentation of minority interest, share of net after-tax results of
associates and other disclosures. In prior years, minority interests at the balance sheet date
were presented in the consolidated balance sheet separately from liabilities and as deduction
from net assets. Minority interests in the results of the Group for the year are also separately
presented in the consolidated income statement as a deduction before arriving at the profit
attributable to the equity holders of the Company. With effect from 1 July 2005, minority interests
are now shown within total equity in the consolidated balance sheet. Minority interests are
presented as an allocation of the total profit or loss for the year in the consolidated income
statement. These charges in presentation have been applied retrospectively with comparatives
restated.

(b)

HKAS 17 – Leases
In prior years, leasehold land and buildings held for own-use were classified under property,
plant and equipment at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The adoption
of revised HKAS 17 has resulted in a change in the accounting policy relating to the reclassification
of leasehold land from property, plant and equipment to operating leases. The up-front
prepayments made for the leasehold land are expensed in the income statement on a straightline basis over the period of the lease or when there is impairment, the impairment is expensed
in the income statement. A lease of land and building is split into a lease of land and a lease of
building in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in land element and the
building element of the lease at the inception of the lease. The lease of land is stated at cost and
amortised over the period of the lease whereas the building is stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
The charges in accounting policy have been adopted retrospectively. The adjustments are set
out in Note 3(ii) to the financial statements.

(c)

HKAS 24 – Related Party Disclosures
HKAS 24 has affected the identification of related parties and some other related-party disclosures.

(d)

HKASs 32 and 39 – Financial Instruments
Financial assets
In prior periods, the Group classified its equity investment as investment in securities and other
investments. Investments in securities are listed equity securities intended to be held on a shortterm basis and are stated at amortised cost less any impairment losses. These investments are
stated at their fair values at the balance sheet date on an individual investment basis. The gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of other investment are credited or charged to
the consolidated income statement in the period in which they arise.
Upon the adoption of HKAS 39, the Group classifies its financial assets as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are those
investments acquired principally for the purpose of trading. Any gain or loss arising from change
in fair value of the financial assets is recognised in the income statement.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i)

Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)
(d)

HKASs 32 and 39 – Financial Instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities
Under HKAS 32, convertible notes issued are split into their liability and equity components at
initial recognition by recognising the liability component at its fair value which is determined
using a market interest rate for equivalent non-convertible notes and attributing to the equity
component the difference between the proceeds from issue and the fair value of the liability
component. The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised cost. The equity
component is recognised in the convertible notes reserve until the notes are either converted (in
which case it is transferred to share premium) or the notes are redeemed (in which case it is
released directly to retained earnings). The issuance costs incurred for the arrangement of
convertible notes were charged to the income statement in the year of issue.

(e)

HKAS 36 – Impairment of Assets and HKFRS 3 – Business Combinations
The adoption of HKAS 36 and HKFRS 3 results in a change in accounting policy for goodwill. In
prior years, positive or negative goodwill which arose prior to 1 January 2001 was taken directly
to reserve at the time it arose, and was not recognised in the income statement until disposal or
impairment of the acquired business. Positive goodwill which arose on or after 1 January 2001
was amortised on a straight line basis over its useful life and was subject to impairment testing
when there were indications of impairment.
Until 30 June 2005, the Group’s goodwill was amortised on a straight line basis over a period of
10 years and assessed for an indication of possible impairment at each balance sheet date.
In accordance with the provisions of HKFRS 3, the Group ceased amortisation of goodwill from
1 July 2005. Accumulated amortisation as at 30 June 2005 has been eliminated with a
corresponding decrease in the cost of goodwill. From the year ended 30 June 2006 onwards,
goodwill is tested annually for impairment, as well as when there is indication of goodwill. The
effect of the above changes are summarised in Note 3(ii) below. In accordance with the transitional
provisions of HKFRS 3, comparative figures have not been restated.

(f)

HKAS 40 – Investment Property
The adoption of HKAS 40 has resulted in change in accounting policy for the Group’s investment
properties. In prior years, increase in the valuation of investment property were credited to the
investment property revaluation reserve while decrease in the valuation of investment property
were firstly set off against the surplus of the investment property revaluation reserve and thereafter
charged to the income statement. Following the adoption of HKAS 40, all changes in valuation of
the investment property are to be recognised in the income statement.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(ii)

Effect on the consolidated financial statements
Effect on the consolidated balance sheets as at 30 June 2006 and 2005
Effect of adopting
HKFRS 3

HKAS 17

HKAS 39

HKAS 1
Presentation

Financial

of Financial

Combination

Business
Leases

Instruments

Statements

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

Goodwill

–

–

–

–

–

Accumulated amortisation

–

–

–

–

–

Property, plant and equipment

–

(2,836)

–

(27,700)

(30,536)

Prepaid land premiums

–

2,836

–

–

2,836

Investment in securities

–

–

(1,257)

–

(1,257)

Investment properties

–

–

–

27,700

27,700

–

–

1,257

–

1,257

–

–

–

–

–

Goodwill

(14,259)

–

–

–

(14,259)

Accumulated amortisation

Effect of new policies

At 30 June 2005

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

At 30 June 2006
14,259

–

–

–

14,259

Property, plant and equipment

–

–

–

(28,400)

(28,400)

Investment in securities

–

–

(567)

–

(567)

Investment properties

–

–

–

28,400

28,400

through profit or loss

–

–

567

–

567

Convertible notes reserve

–

–

277

–

277

–

–

277

–

277

Financial assets at fair value
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(ii)

Effect on the consolidated financial statements (Continued)
Effect on the consolidated income statement for the year ended 30 June 2006 and 2005
Effect of adopting
HKAS 17 Leases
HK$’000
For the year ended 30 June 2005
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums

65

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

(65)

For the year ended 30 June 2006
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums

71

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

(71)

There was no material impact on opening accumulated losses as at 1 July 2005 from the adoption of
above HKFRSs.

(iii)

HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2006
No early adoption of the following HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. Unless
otherwise stated, these HKFRSs are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006:
HKAS 1 (Amendment)

Capital Disclosures

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

The Fair Value Option

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 4

Financial Guarantee Contracts

(Amendments)
HKFRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures

HK (IFRIC) – Int 4

Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

HKFRSs 1& 6

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and

(Amendments)

Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources

HKFRS 6

Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources

HK (IFRIC) – Int 5

Rights to Interest arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and
Environmental Rehabilitation Funds

HK (IFRIC) – Int 6
(effective for accounting

Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market
– Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment

period commencing on or
after 1 December 2005)
HK (IFRIC) – Int 7
(effective for accounting

Applying the Restatement Approach under HKAS 29 Financial Reporting
in Hyperinflationary Economies

period commencing on or
after 1 March 2006)

Massive Resources International Corporation Limited • Annual Report 2006

47

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(iii)

HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2006 (Continued)
HK (IFRIC) – Int 8

Scope of HKFRS 2

(effective for accounting
period commencing on or
after 1 May 2006)
HK (IFRIC) – Int 9

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

(effective for accounting
period commencing on or
after 1 June 2006)
The HKAS 1 Amendment shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The
revised standard will affect the disclosure about qualitative information about the Group’s objective,
policies and processes for managing capital; quantitative data about what company regards as capital;
and compliance with any capital requirements and the consequences of any non-compliance.
HKAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option. This amendment changes the definition of financial
instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss and restricts the ability to designate financial
instruments as part of this category. The Group believes that this amendment should not have a
significant impact on the classification of financial instruments, as the Group should be able to comply
with the amended criteria for the designation of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.
The Group will comply this amendment from accounting periods beginning on 1 July 2006.
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 4 (Amendments), Financial Guarantee Contracts. This amendment requires issued
financial guarantees, other than those previously asserted by the entity to be insurance contracts, to be
initially recognised at their fair value, and subsequently measured at the higher of (a) the unamortised
balance of the related fees received and deferred, and (b) the expenditure required to settle the
commitment at the balance sheet date. The Company regards its financial guarantees provided to its
subsidiaries as insurance contracts.
HKFRS 7 will replace HKAS 32 and has modified the disclosure requirements of HKAS 32 relating to
financial instruments. This HKFRS shall be applied for annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2007.
Except as stated above, the Group expects that the adoption of the other pronouncements listed above
will not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial application.
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

Market risk
Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong, primarily with respect to the Hong Kong dollars. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.
Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because investments held by the Group are
classified on the consolidated balance sheet as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The
Group is not exposed to commodity price risk.

(b)

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which mainly comprise cash and cash equivalents
and trade receivables, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the other party, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. There are no significant
concentrations of credit risk within the Group in relation to the other financial assets.

(c)

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities. The
Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is minimal.

(d)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Borrowings at variable interest rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and those at fixed
rate expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group monitors the interest rate risk exposure on a continuous basis and adjusts the portfolio of
borrowings where necessary.
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss traded in active markets is based on quoted
market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price.
The nominal values less any estimated credit adjustments for financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of
less than one year, including trade and other receivables, amount due from a related company, trade and other
payables, amount due to a minority shareholder and current borrowings are assumed to approximate their fair
values.

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.
(i)

Estimate impairment of goodwill
The Group performs annual test on whether there has been impairment of intangible assets in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 2(c). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and
assumptions made by management on the future operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and
other assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.

(ii)

Impairment of assets
The Group tests annually whether the assets have suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount of
an asset or a cash generating unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations which require the
use of assumptions and estimates.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)
(iii)

Measurement of convertible notes
On issuance of convertible notes, the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market
rate for an equivalent non-convertible note; and this amount is carried as current liability on the amortised
cost basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated
to the conversion option that is recognised and included in the convertible notes reserve, net of
transaction costs. The splitting of the liability and equity components requires an estimation of the
market interest rate.

(iv)

Estimate of fair value of investment properties
The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar lease and other contracts.
In the absence of such information, the Group determines the amount within a range of reasonable fair
value estimates. In making its judgment, the Group considers information from a variety of sources
including:
(a)

current prices in an active market for properties of different nature, condition or location (or
subject to different lease or other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences;

(b)

recent prices of similar properties in less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices; and

(c)

discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, derived from
the terms of any existing lease and other contracts, and (where possible) from external evidence
such as current market rents for similar properties in the same location and condition, and using
discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the uncertainly in the amount and
timing of the cash flows.

If information on current or recent prices of investment properties is not available, the fair values of
investment properties are determined using discounted cash flow valuation techniques. The Group uses
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance date.
The principal assumptions underlying management’s estimation of fair value are those related to: the
receipt of contractual rentals; expected future market rentals; void periods; maintenance requirements;
and appropriate discount rates. These valuations are regularly compared to actual market yield data,
and actual transactions by the Group and those reported by the market.
The expected future market rentals are determined on the basis of current market rentals for similar
properties in the same location and condition.
The Group assesses the fair value of its investment properties based on valuation determined by
qualified independent professional valuers in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)
(v)

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment
In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment to
determine the amount of depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated at the
time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the expected usage, wear and tear of the
assets, and technical obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service output of
the assets. The Group also performs annual reviews on whether the assumptions made on useful lives
continue to be valid.

(vi)

Net realisable value of inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience and selling goods of similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of change in market condition. Management will reassessed the estimations at the balance
sheet date.

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information is presented by way of two segment formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting basis, by
business segment; and (ii) on a secondary segment reporting basis, by geographical segment.
The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately, according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s business segments represents a
strategic business unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of other business segments. Summary details of the business segments are as follows:
(a)

the electrical equipment segment consisted of the manufacture and sale of electrical equipment;

(b)

the listed securities segment consisted of the purchase and sale of listed securities;

(c)

the electrical engineering and contracting services segment consisted of the provision of electrical
engineering and contracting services;

(d)

the entertainment segment consisted of the production and distribution of musical and entertainment
products and the celebrities management; and

(e)

the cruise segment consisted of the leasing and management of the cruise.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues and results are attributed to the segments based
on the location of the customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of the
assets.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(a)

Business segments
THE GROUP
2006

Segment revenue:
Sales/services to external
customers
Segment results
Other revenue
Other income
Distribution costs
General and administrative
expenses
Unallocated administrative
expenses

Electrical
engineering
and
contracting
services Entertainment
2006
2006
HK$’000
HK$’000

Sale of
electrical
equipments
2006
HK$’000

Cruise
leasing
2006
HK$’000

Trading of
listed
securities
2006
HK$’000

59,828

27,000

–

16,306

–

103,134

8,114

11,996

–

2,472

–

22,582

Consolidated
2006
HK$’000

(1,174)

–

–

–

–

4,112
948
(1,174)

(4,981)

(1,400)

(611)

(1,313)

(40)

(8,345)
(6,247)

Profit from operating activities
Finance costs

11,876
(1,226)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

10,650
(1,047)

Profit before minority interests
Minority interests

9,603
(2,456)

Net profit for the year

7,147

Segment assets
Unallocated assets

55,930

197,205

32,030

9,385

1

Total assets
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

354,521
12,737

48,625

7,839

2,909

35

Total liabilities
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure
Unallocated amounts

294,551
59,970

72,145
41,660
113,805

69

94,131

–

–

–

94,200
569
94,769

Depreciation and amortisation
Unallocated amounts

599

15,004

82

–

–

15,685
75
15,760

Other non-cash expenses:
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of inventories
Impairment loss in respect of trade
and other receivables

203

–

–

–

–

203

–

–

264

–

–

264
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(a)

Business segments
THE GROUP
2005
Sales of
electrical
equipments
2005
HK$’000
(Restated)
Segment revenue:
Sales/services to external
customers
Segment results
Other revenue
Other income
Distribution costs
General and administrative
expenses
Unallocated expenses

Electrical
Trading of
engineering
listed and contracting
securities
services
2005
2005
HK$’000
HK$’000
(Restated)
(Restated)

Entertainment
2005
HK$’000
(Restated)

Consolidated
2005
HK$’000
(Restated)

60,665

–

16,344

–

77,009

6,212

–

1,993

–

8,205
1,432
500
(1,462)

(1,462)

–

–

–

(6,387)

(4,208)

(1,386)

(136)

(12,117)
(7,037)

Loss from operating activities
Finance costs

(10,479)
(129)

Loss before taxation
Taxation

(10,608)
(366)

Loss before minority interests
Minority interests

(10,974)
(379)

Net loss for the year

(11,353)

Segment assets
Unallocated assets

52,861

8,704

7,641

80

Total assets
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

286,054
11,338

3,021

3,610

120

Total liabilities
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure
Unallocated amounts

69,286
216,768

18,089
37,129
55,218

3

–

–

–

3
97,029
97,032

Depreciation and amortisation
Unallocated amounts

417

–

–

–

417
390
807

Other non-cash expenses:
Impairment loss in respect
of trade and other receivables
Fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

54

129

–

–

–

129

–

5,050

–

–

5,050
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(b)

Geographical segments
THE GROUP
Hong Kong

The PRC

Consolidated

2006

2005

2006

2005

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

103,134

77,009

–

–

103,134

77,009

22,582

8,205

–

–

22,582

8,205

326,072

258,334

28,449

27,720

354,521

286,054

Segment liabilities

96,535

38,154

17,270

17,064

113,805

55,218

Capital expenditure

94,769

97,032

–

–

94,769

97,032

Segment revenue:
Sales/services to
external customers
Segment results
Other segment information:
Segment assets

7.

TURNOVER AND OTHER REVENUE
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000
(Restated)

Turnover
Manufacturing and trading of electrical equipments

59,828

60,665

Provision of electrical engineering and contracting services

16,306

16,344

Rental income from leasing of the cruise

27,000

–

103,134

77,009

2,864

264

83

26

2

2

582

–

Other revenue
Interest income
Commission received
Dividend income – listed securities
Gains on disposal of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Rental income

133

133

Sundry income

448

1,007

4,112

1,432
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8.

PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
The Group’s profit/(loss) from operating activities is arrived at after charging:
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)

Amortisation of development costs
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums
Auditors’ remuneration
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

330

609

71

65

723

665

15,503

462

–

425

628

1,560

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
held under finance leases
Operating lease charges in respect of land and buildings
Fair value losses on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Total staff costs, excluding directors’ remuneration

–

5,050

11,355

11,420

Mandatory provident fund contributions

468

334

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade and other receivables

264

129

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

198

–

Impairment loss recognised on obsolescence of inventories

203

–

41,587

49,765

700

500

Cost of inventories
and after crediting:
Other income:
Fair value gain on investment properties
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

9.

155

–

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

40

–

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

53

–

948

500

FINANCE COSTS
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

92

64

36

65

1,098

–

1,226

129

Interest on bank overdrafts and other borrowings
wholly repayable within five years
Interest on finance leases
Interest on convertible notes
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10.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:
THE GROUP
Provident
Name of Director

Basic

fund

Fees

salaries

contributions

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

2006:
Executive directors
Mr. Lin Cheuk Fung

–

960

12

972

Mr. Lau Kwok Hung

–

660

12

672

Mr. Chan Shiu Kwong, Stephen

–

600

12

612
100

100

–

–

Mr. Chen Chak Man

Mr. Lau Kwok Keung

–

–

–

–

Ms. Chik Siu Yin, Urica

–

133

7

140

Mr. Chow Pui Fung

60

–

–

60

Mr. Yue Fu Wing

60

–

–

60

Mr. Wong Yuk Man

20

–

–

20

Mr. Hung Shui Nam

40

–

–

40

280

2,353

43

2,676

Independent non-executive directors

2005:
Executive directors
Mr. Lin Cheuk Fung

–

–

–

–

Mr. Lau Kwok Hung

–

703

12

715

Mr. Chan Shiu Kwong, Stephen

–

98

2

100
100

100

–

–

Mr. Chen Chak Man

Mr. Lau Kwok Keung

–

–

–

–

Ms. Chik Siu Yin, Urica

–

248

12

260

–

–

–

–

28

–

–

28

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Chow Pui Fung
Mr. Yue Fu Wing
Mr. Hung Shui Nam

–

–

–

–

Mr. Chan Ping Yim

17

–

–

17

Mr. Fok Po Tin

25

–

–

25

170

1,049

26

1,245

During the year, no share options were granted to the directors under the Company’s share options scheme.
There were no arrangements under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2005: Nil).
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11.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2005: one) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in Note 10 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2005: four)
highest paid, non-director employees are as follows:

Salaries and other benefits
Mandatory provident fund contributions

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

1,060

1,744

21

48

1,081

1,792

Their emoluments are within the following bands:
Number of employees

Nil – HK$1,000,000

12.

2006

2005

2

4

TAXATION
(a)

Income tax expenses
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided in the financial statements at a rate of 17.5% (2005: 17.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits of the subsidiaries for the year. No provision for tax is required for
the Company and its associates as no assessable profits were earned by the Company and the
associates during the year.
THE GROUP
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

716

394

Current year provision:
Hong Kong
Over-provision in previous year
Deferred taxation (Note 12b)

58

–

(28)

331

–

1,047

366
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12.

TAXATION (Continued)
(a)

Income tax expenses (Continued)
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
2006
Hong Kong

The PRC

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

Profit before taxation

9,913

737

10,650

Tax at the domestic income rate

1,735

243

1,978

702

–

702

Tax effect of expenses that are not
deductible in determining taxable profit
Tax effect of income that are not taxable
in determining taxable profit

(5,254)

Over-provision in previous year

–

–

–

(5,254)
–

Tax effect of estimated tax loss
not recognised

3,633

(12)

3,621

231

1,047

The PRC

Total

Tax charge at the effective tax rate
for the year

816
2005
Hong Kong
HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

(Restated)

(Restated)

(Restated)

(11,082)

474

(10,608)

(1,939)

83

(1,856)

3,404

–

3,404

(111)

(2,616)

28

–

28

1,378

28

1,406

366

–

366

(Loss)/profit before taxation
Tax at the domestic income rate
Tax effect of expenses that are not
deductible in determining taxable profit
Tax effect of income that are not taxable
in determining taxable profit
Over-provision in previous year

(2,505)

Tax effect of estimated tax loss
not recognised
Tax charge at the effective tax rate
for the year
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12.

TAXATION (Continued)
(b)

Deferred taxation
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities ad assets recognised by the Group and movements
thereon:
Deferred tax
on fair value
Accelerated

gains on

tax

investment

depreciation

properties

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

At 1 July 2005/2004

–

–

–

Charge to income statement

100

231

331

At 30 June 2006/2005

100

231

331

Deferred tax liabilities to be
settled after more than 12 months

13.

14.

331

EARNINGS/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

Dealt with in the financial statements of the Company

4,221

(7,957)

Attributable to subsidiaries

2,926

(3,396)

7,147

(11,353)

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY
The calculation of the basic profit per ordinary share is based on the net profit for the year of HK$7,147,000
(2005: loss of HK$11,353,000) and the weighted average of 12,397,630,000 (2005: 10,051,671,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.
No diluted profit per ordinary share has been presented for the year ended 30 June 2006 as there were no
dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence during the year ended 30 June 2006. No diluted loss per ordinary
share has been presented for the year ended 30 June 2005 as the effect of the assumed conversion of the
Company’s outstanding convertible notes would result in a decrease in net loss per ordinary share for the year
ended 30 June 2005.

60

Massive Resources International Corporation Limited • Annual Report 2006

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(a)

The Group

Buildings in

Leasehold

Furniture,

improve-

Plant and fixtures and

Computer

Motor

Cruise

Hong Kong

ments

machinery

equipment

equipment

vehicles

ship

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

6,031

–

336

3,039

268

2,488

–

12,162

(2,836)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(2,836)

3,195

–

336

3,039

268

2,488

–

9,326

–

–

–

–

–

–

97,000

97,000

Transfer in

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Additions

–

–

–

3

29

–

–

32

Increase in fair value

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

3,195

–

336

3,042

297

2,488

97,000

106,358

(Restated)
At cost/fair value:
At 1 July 2004
Effect on adoption of
HKAS 17
As restated at 1 July 2004
Additions upon acquisition
of a subsidiary

At 30 June 2005 and
1 July 2005
Effect of adoption of HKAS 40

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Additions

–

42,460

19,937

159

33

–

32,180

94,769

Disposals

–

–

–

(31)

(11)

(2,488)

–

(2,530)

3,195

42,460

20,273

3,170

319

–

129,180

198,597

297

–

250

2,103

172

1,653

–

4,475

(57)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(57)

80

–

30

296

56

425

–

887

At 30 June 2006
Depreciation:
At 1 July 2004
Written back on
revaluation
Charge for the year
At 30 June 2005

320

–

280

2,399

228

2,078

–

5,305

80

6,354

2,268

295

47

–

6,459

15,503

–

–

–

(5)

–

(2,078)

–

(2,083)

400

6,354

2,548

2,689

275

–

6,459

18,725

At 30 June 2006

2,795

36,106

17,725

481

44

–

122,721

179,872

At 30 June 2005

2,875

–

56

643

69

410

97,000

101,053

Charge for the year
Written back on disposal
At 30 June 2006
Net book value:
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15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
(b)

The Company
Office

Leasehold

Computer

Motor

equipment

improvement

equipment

vehicles

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

20

–

45

1,700

1,765

–

–

29

–

29

At cost:
At 1 July 2004
Additions
At 30 June 2005 and 1 July 2005

20

–

74

1,700

1,794

Additions

89

447

33

–

569

Disposal

(11)

–

(11)

(1,700)

(1,722)

At 30 June 2006

98

447

96

–

641

At 1 July 2004

6

–

30

865

901

Charge for the year

4

–

12

425

441

Depreciation:

At 30 June 2005 and 1 July 2005

10

–

42

1,290

1,342

Charge for the year

13

52

10

–

75

Written back on disposal

(5)

–

(1)

(1,290)

(1,296)

At 30 June 2006

18

52

51

–

121

At 30 June 2006

80

395

45

–

520

At 30 June 2005

10

–

32

410

452

Net Book value:

(c)

At 30 June 2006, the net book value of property, plant and equipment pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group amounted to approximately HK$5,438,000 (2005: HK$5,589,000).

(d)

At 30 June 2006, the net book value of property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group
held under finance leases amounted to HK$Nil (2005: HK$410,000).
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16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
The Group’s investment properties in the PRC were revalued at 30 June 2006 by an independent valuer,
Chung, Chan & Associates, on an open market value. In accordance with HKAS 40, the net increase in fair
value of HK$500,000 based on the valuation reports has been credited to the income statement.
THE GROUP
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000
(Restated)

At valuation:
At 1 July 2005/2004
Additions
Fair value gain on investment properties

27,700
–
700

–
27,200
500

At 30 June 2006/2005

28,400

27,700
THE GROUP

Representing:
Leasehold land in PRC:
Medium term lease
Long term lease

17.

2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000
(Restated)

12,000
16,400

11,700
16,000

28,400

27,700

PREPAID LAND PREMIUMS
The Group’s interest in leasehold land and land use rights represent prepaid operating lease payment and their
net book value are analysed as follows:
THE GROUP
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000
(Restated)

At cost:
As previously reported on 1 July 2005/2004
Effect of adopting HKAS 17

2,836
–

–
2,836

As 30 June 2006/2005, as restated

2,836

2,836

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 July 2005/2004
Charge for the year

122
71

57
65

At 30 June 2006/2005

193

122

2,643

2,714

Carrying amount at 30 June 2006/2005
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17.

PREPAID LAND PREMIUMS (Continued)
THE GROUP
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000
(Restated)

Representing:
Leasehold land in Hong Kong:
Medium term lease

2,643

2,714

At the balance sheet date, the Group’s leasehold land with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$2,643,000
(2005: HK$2,714,000) were mortgaged to a bank for securing general banking facilities granted to the Group.

18.

DEVELOPMENT COSTS
HK$’000
THE GROUP
At cost:
At 1 July 2004, 30 June 2005 and 30 June 2006

4,673

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 July 2004
Charge for the year
At 30 June 2005 and 1 July 2005
Charge for the year
At 30 June 2006

3,734
609
4,343
330
4,673

Net book value:
At 30 June 2006
At 30 June 2005

64

–
330
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19.

GOODWILL
HK$’000
THE GROUP
At cost:
At 1 July 2004

14,259

Additions

45

At 30 June 2005 and 1 July 2005

14,304

Eliminated upon the adoption of HKFRS 3

(14,259)

At 30 June 2006

45

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 July 2004 and 30 June 2005

14,259

Eliminated upon the adoption of HKFRS 3

(14,259)

At 30 June 2006

–

Net book value:
At 30 June 2006

45

At 30 June 2005

45

Until 30 June 2005, goodwill had been amortised over 10 years.

Impairment test for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating unit (CGUs) identified according to the location of operation
and business segment as follows:

Cruise leasing

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

45

45

During the year ended 30 June 2006, management of the Company determines that there is no impairment of
goodwill. The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined on a value in use calculation. That calculation
used cash flow projections based on the financial budgets approved by management covering a 5-year period.
Cash flows is beyond five year period extrapolated using the estimated rates stated below. The growth rate
does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates.
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19.

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment test for goodwill (Continued)
Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:
Gross margin

44%

Growth rate

3%

Discount rate

5%

Management determined the budget gross margin based on past performance and its expectations for the
market development. The weighted average growth rate used are based on the management’s expectation on
the market development. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
segments.

20.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
THE COMPANY
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)

Unlisted investments, at cost

104,420

Less: Impairment loss in respect of investment cost

Amounts due from subsidiaries
Less: Impairment loss in respect of amounts due from subsidiaries

(5,000)

104,420
(5,000)

99,420

99,420

229,204

155,522

(150,750)

(95,790)

177,874

159,152

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
The directors of the Group had reviewed the net asset values of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 30 June
2006 and considered provision for impairment in values should be made in respect of the investment in
subsidiaries and the amounts due from subsidiaries to their net recoverable values.
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20.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2006 are as follows:
Proportion of
Place of

Issued and fully

nominal value of

incorporation/

paid ordinary

issued ordinary

registration/

share capital/

share capital/

operation/
Name of subsidiary

registered

establishment

capital

registered capital

Principal

held by the Company

activity

Directly Indirectly

Great Well Global Limited

The British Virgin

%

%

US$1

100

–

Leasing

US$1

100

–

Securities trading

US$1

100

–

Securities trading

Islands
Gold Winner Asia Limited

The British Virgin
Islands

Jumbo Profit Investments
Limited

The British Virgin
Islands

Lexwin Company Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2

100

–

Assets holding

Goalstar Holdings Limited

The British Virgin

US$1

100

–

Investment holding

US$2,850,000

80

–

Investment holding

HK$600,000

–

80

Islands
Linfield International Limited*

The British Virgin
Islands

Metrix Engineering Company

Hong Kong

Limited*

Manufacture and
trading of electrical
equipment

Metrix Engineering (China)

Hong Kong

HK$500,000

–

80

Inactive

Hong Kong

HK$22,000,000

–

80

Investment holding

Hong Kong

HK$500,000

–

80

Provision of electrical

Limited*
Metrix Engineering
International Limited*
Metrix E & M Services Limited*

engineering and
contracting
services
Discovery Net Limited

The British Virgin

US$50,000

–

100

Securities trading

HK$2

100

–

Securities trading

Islands
Sources Investments Limited

Hong Kong
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20.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Proportion of
Place of

Issued and fully

nominal value of

incorporation/

paid ordinary

issued ordinary

registration/

share capital/

operation/
Name of subsidiary

registered

establishment

capital

share capital/
registered capital

Principal

held by the Company

activity

Directly Indirectly

World Target International
Limited

The British Virgin

%

%

US$1

100

–

Securities trading

Islands

Tenin Investments Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2

–

100

Property development

Anwill Investments Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2

–

100

Property development

Century Element Celebrities

Hong Kong

HK$2

–

100

Celebrities management

Century Element Entertainment Hong Kong

HK$2

–

100

Entertainment

Management (HK) Limited

(HK) Limited
Eagles Wing Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2

100

–

Distribution

Massive Resources

Hong Kong

HK$2

100

–

Investment holding

Hong Kong

HK$10,000

100

–

Licence holders

Talent Ascent Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2

100

–

Securities trading

Beijing Massive Resources

Hong Kong

HK$2

–

100

US$10,000

70

–

Corporation (China) Limited
Smart Brilliance Development
Limited

Investment holding

Culture & Communication
Co., Limited
Walden Maritime S.A.
*

Republic of Panama

Cruise leasing

Companies not audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital outstanding at the end of the year, or at any time during the year.
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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21.

SUBSIDIARY NOT CONSOLIDATED
In February 2001, Goalstar Holdings Limited (“Goalstar”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, purportedly
entered into an agreement whereby Goalstar would purchase 60% of the issued shares and the shareholders’
loan of M-Star Limited (“M-Star”). Having obtained legal advice, Goalstar duly rescinded the purported agreement.
The Group’s investment in M-Star had not been incorporated into these financial statements and as prudence,
a full impairment of HK$16,043,000 for the investment in M-Star had been made in the year ended 30 June
2002. Official receiver had been appointed for the liquidation of M-Star during the year ended 30 June 2003.
M-Star was dissolved by compulsory winding up on 23 November 2005. No gain or loss on dissolution on the
subsidiary was recognised in the income statement during the year. The dissolved subsidiary had not been
incorporated into these financial statements.

22.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
THE GROUP
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)

Investment in an associate

25,201

25,201

4,199

4,199

29,400

29,400

(29,400)

(29,400)

Loan advanced to an associate

Less: Provision for impairment loss

–

–

At 30 June 2006, the Group had interest in the following associate:
Principal

Percentage of

place of

Nature of

ownership

voting

profit/loss

Name of Company

operation

business

interest

power

sharing

Fu Tai Vacationing

Hong Kong

Property

38%

40%

38%

Village Development

development

Company Limited
The associate has not yet commenced business as at 30 June 2006. The directors of the Company determined
the fair value of the investment in an associate based on the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted using prevailing market rate at balance sheet date and considered that full provision for impairment
loss of the investment cost should be made.

Massive Resources International Corporation Limited • Annual Report 2006

69

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

23.

JOINT VENTURE
THE GROUP
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

Unlisted shares at cost

–

10,000

Advance to a joint venture

–

3,844

Less: Provision for impairment loss

–

13,844

–

(13,844)

–

–

At 30 June 2005, the Group had interest in the following jointly controlled entity:
Principal

Percentage of

place of

Nature of

ownership

voting

profit/loss

Name of Company

operation

business

interest

power

sharing

北京世紀元素

People’s

Provision and

50%

50%

50%

娛樂有限公司

Republic of

distribution

China

of musical and
related products

On 20 June 2006, the Group disposed of 50% interest in 北 京 世 紀 元 素 娛 樂 有 限 公 司 to an independent third
party for a cash consideration of HK$1. The disposal did not contribute significantly to the Group’s cash and
did not have material impact on the Group results as a whole.

24.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
THE GROUP
2006
HK$’000

2005
HK$’000
(Restated)

Equity securities:
Listed in Hong Kong at market value

567

1,257

The Group classified its equity investments, other than investment in subsidiaries, as investment securities for
the year end 30 June 2005. From 1 July 2005 onwards, the Group classified the investment securities as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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25.

INVENTORIES
THE GROUP
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)

Raw materials
Work in progress
Less: Impairment loss recognised on obsolescence of inventories

13,669

12,293

2,889

2,104

(203)

–

16,355

14,397

The directors of the Group had considered the net realisable values and conditions of the Group’s inventories
as at 30 June 2006 and considered provision for impairment in values should be made in respect of the net
realisable value.

26.

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS
THE GROUP
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

1,675

710

Amounts due from contract customers included
in trade and other receivables (Note 27)
Amounts due to contract customers included
in trade and other payables (Note 28)

(2,905)

(2,984)

(1,230)

(2,274)

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less
recognised losses to date
Less: Progress billings

22,025

14,916

(23,255)

(17,190)

(1,230)

(2,274)

At 30 June 2006, no retention (2005: Nil) was held by customers for contract works as included in trade and
other receivables under current assets.
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27.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
THE GROUP
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)

Trade receivables

29,490

20,375

Sundry deposit and prepayments (note iii)

1,607

1,439

Other receivables

1,913

1,853

Amounts due from contract customers (Note 26)

1,675

710

34,685

24,377

29,735

20,620

The movements of trade receivables were as follows:
Trade receivables
Less: Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade receivables

(245)

(245)

29,490

20,375

Aging analysis of trade receivables net of provision for impairment loss is set out below:
THE GROUP

0-30 days

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

12,199

8,540

Over 30 days

7,725

3,197

Over 60 days

5,980

2,911

Over 90 days

3,586

5,727

29,490

20,375

The movements in provision for impairment loss on trade receivables are as follows:
THE GROUP

At 1 July 2005/2004
Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade receivables
At 30 June 2006/2005

72

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

245

213

–

32

245

245
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27.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Notes:
(i)

The credit terms for customers are generally granted in between 30-60 days.

(ii)

The directors of the Group considered that the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximates their
fair values.

(iii)

Sundry deposit and prepayments was net of impairment loss of approximately HK$264,000. The directors of the
Group had assessed the recoverability of the sundry deposit and prepayments as at 30 June 2006 and considered
provision for impairment should be made to reflect its fair value.

28.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
THE GROUP

THE COMPANY

2006

2005

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

Trade creditors

9,077

6,919

–

–

Other payables

21,443

129

–

–

Accruals

3,552

7,942

1,895

3,854

Provision for legal claim for rental

1,883

1,592

–

–

205

1,202

–

–

customers (Note 26)

2,905

2,984

–

–

Finance lease payables

–

215

–

215

39,065

20,983

1,895

4,069

Advance received
Amounts due to contract

Aging analysis of trade creditors is set out below:
THE GROUP
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

0-30 days

3,536

1,433

Over 30 days

2,919

3,141

Over 60 days

2,591

2,184

Over 90 days

31

161

9,077

6,919
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29.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES
THE GROUP AND
THE COMPANY

Fair value of convertible notes issued
Equity component

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

40,000

–

(277)

Liability component on initial recognition

39,723

Interest expenses

(100)

Amortised cost on initial recognition at 22 October 2005
Interest expenses
Interest payable

–
–

39,623

–

1,097

–

(955)

Amortised cost at 30 June 2006

–

39,765

–
–

Pursuant to the convertible notes subscription agreement dated 12 September 2005, the Company issued
convertible notes in the principal of HK$40,000,000 (the “Notes”) to two independent third parties (the
“Noteholders”). The Notes bear interest at the rate of 5% per annum on the outstanding principal amount of
the Notes. The Company shall repay such principal moneys outstanding under the Notes to the Noteholders
together with all interest accrued thereon up to and including the date of repayment falling 12 months from the
date of issue of the Notes. The Noteholders may at any business day after the date of issue of the Notes up to
and including the date prior to the anniversary to the date of issue of the Notes convert the whole or any part
in an amount of integral multiple of HK$1,000,000 of the principal amount of the Notes into shares of HK$0.02
each in the share capital of the Company, at the conversion price of HK$0.02 per share.
The fair value of the liability component, included in current liabilities, was calculated using a market interest
rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond. The remaining balance represented the equity conversion component,
is included in shareholers’ equity named as convertible notes reserve.
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29.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)
The fair value of the liability component of the Notes as at 30 June 2006, amounted to approximately
HK$39,765,000. The fair value is calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate based on the borrowing rate
per annum of the Group.
Carrying amounts

Convertible notes

Fair values

2006

2005

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

39,765

–

39,765

–

39,765

–

39,765

–

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible notes at 30 June 2006 amounted to HK$39,765,000.
The fair value is calculated using cash flows discounted using a rate based on the borrowings rate of 5.85%
(2005: Nil).
Interest expenses on the convertible notes is calculated using the effective interest method by applying the
effective interest rate of 5.85% (2005: Nil) to the liability component.

30.

SHARE CAPITAL
THE GROUP AND
THE COMPANY
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

1,000,000

1,000,000

247,953

247,953

Authorised:
50,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each
(2005: 50,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each)
Issued and fully paid:
12,397,630,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each
(2005: 12,397,630,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each)

Share options
Under the terms of the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 30 November 2000 (the “Scheme”),
the board of directors may, at its discretion, invite employees, including the directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries, to take up options to subscribe for shares in the share capital of the Company. The subscription
price for the Company’s shares under the Scheme is determined by the board of directors and will not be less
than 80% of the average of the closing prices of the Company’s shares listed on the Stock Exchange on the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the option or the nominal value of the Company’s
shares, whichever is the higher. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
may not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company (excluding shares issued under the Scheme)
from time to time and that the maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to any
one employee shall not exceed 25% of the aggregate number of shares under the Scheme.

Massive Resources International Corporation Limited • Annual Report 2006

75

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

30.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
The Scheme was adopted prior to the new rules on share option schemes under the Listing Rules coming into
operation. The Company may only grant further options under the Scheme if the options are granted in
accordance with the requirements of the new rules of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which include, inter alia,
the followings:
(i)

the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the relevant class of shares of
the Company (or its subsidiaries) in issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme. Subject to
compliance with the Listing Rules, the limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other schemes
must not exceed 30% of the relevant class of shares of the Company in issue from time to time;

(ii)

the maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant within any 12month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. Grant of
options to connected persons are subject to more stringent requirements; and

(iii)

the exercise price of the share options is determined by directors, but may not be less than the higher
of (a) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s share on the date of offer of the grant of the
share options; and (b) the average of the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares of the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of the grant of the share options.

During the year, no share options have been granted nor exercised. At 30 June 2006, the Company had no
outstanding options granted to eligible employees to subscribe for shares of the Company.

31.

RESERVES
THE GROUP
NonShare

At 1 July 2004
Net loss for the year
Issue of shares

Convertible distributable Accumulated

premium

notes

reserve

losses

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

17,198

–

2,264

(77,868)

(58,406)

–

–

–

(11,353)

(11,353)

46,153

–

–

–

46,153

(1,897)

–

–

–

(1,897)

61,454

–

2,264

(89,221)

(25,503)

– equity component

–

277

–

–

277

Net profit for the year

–

–

–

7,147

7,147

61,454

277

2,264

(82,074)

(18,079)

Share issue expenses
At 30 June 2005 and
1 July 2005
Convertible notes

At 30 June 2006
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31.

RESERVES (Continued)
THE COMPANY
NonShare

Convertible distributable Accumulated

premium

notes

reserve

losses

Total

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

17,198

–

1,264

(40,683)

(22,221)

–

–

–

(20,957)

(20,957)

At 1 July 2004
Net loss for the year
Issue of shares
Share issue expenses

46,153

–

–

–

46,153

(1,897)

–

–

–

(1,897)

61,454

–

1,264

(61,640)

1,078

–

277

–

–

277

–

–

–

(55,363)

(55,363)

61,454

277

1,264

(117,003)

(54,008)

At 30 June 2005 and
1 July 2005
Convertible notes
– equity component
Net loss for the year
At 30 June 2006

32.

AMOUNT DUE TO A MINORITY SHAREHOLDER
The amount due is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

33.

AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY
Maximum
balance during
Name of company

THE GROUP

the year

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

831

710

830

Company in which two directors of
subsidiaries have beneficial interests
Gason Electrical Contracting Ltd.

The amount due is unsecured, interest free and recoverable on demand.

34.

AMOUNT DUE TO A SUBSIDIARY
The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayments.
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35.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(a)

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are receivables
as follows:

Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 5 years

(b)

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

36,000

275

9,000

868

45,000

1,143

At 30 June 2006, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases falling due as follows:
THE GROUP

Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 5 years

36.

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

907

154

1,063

288

1,970

442

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
The Group operates defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits schemes (the “MPF
Schemes”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Schemes. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated income statement as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Schemes. The assets of the MPF Schemes are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF schemes, except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded
to the Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Schemes.
At the balance sheet date, the total amount of forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees leaving the
defined contribution retirement benefits scheme and which are available to reduce the contributions payable in
the future years was HK$1,190 (2005: HK$14,000).
The employees of the Company’s subsidiary in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are members of the
state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme organised by the relevant local government authority in the PRC.
The subsidiary is required to contribute, based on a certain percentage of the basic salary of its employees, to
the retirement benefit scheme and has no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or postretirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme represent
for the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.
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37.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
THE GROUP

Bank overdrafts, unsecured
Bank loan, secured

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

528

334

1,564

2,064

2,092

2,398

2,092

771

The maturity profile of the above bank and
other borrowings is as follows:
Within one year
In the second year

–

453

In the third to fifth years, inclusive

–

1,174

2,092

2,398

Portion classified as current liabilities
Non-current portion

(2,092)
–

(771)
1,627

As at 30 June 2006, the bank facilities of the Group were secured by the Group’s leasehold land and buildings
in Hong Kong with carrying values of HK$5,438,000 (2005: HK$5,589,000) and fixed deposits of a subsidiary
of HK$4,451,000 (2005: HK$3,000,000).

38.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

The Group
During the year, the Group had entered into transactions with related parties which, in the opinion of
the directors, were carried out on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business, as shown below:
Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in Note 10 is as follows:
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000
(Restated)

Short term employee benefits
MPF Contribution
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2,943

1,604

63

47

3,006

1,651
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38.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(a)

The Group (Continued)
During the year, the Group had the following material transactions with related parties:
Name of
related parties

Gason Electrical
Contracting Ltd.
(Note a)

Relationship

Company in which

Nature of transactions

Sales – received

two directors of
subsidiaries have

– receivable

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

16,304

16,328

710

830

7

–

360

360

Rent

beneficial interests
Gold Arch

Company in which

Engineering Ltd.

two directors of

(Note b)

subsidiaries have

Management fee paid

beneficial interests
Notes:

a.

The transactions were carried out at market price or, where no market price was available, at cost plus a
percentage profit mark-up.

b.

(b)

The transactions were based on amounts agreed between the parties concerned.

The Company
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, during
the year ended 30 June 2006, the Company had entered into the following material related party
transactions:
Nature of related
party relationship

80

Nature of transactions

Subsidiary

Management fee received

Subsidiary

Management fee paid

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

4,500,000

–

–

1,560,000
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39.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
During the year ended 30 June 2005, the Group acquired 70% interests in Walden Maritime S.A. which is
principally engaged in cruise ship. The effect of the acquisition of the subsidiary to the financial statements
were as follows:
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

Cruise ship

–

97,000

Amounts due from directors

–

78

Amounts due to shareholders

–

(97,000)

Minority interest

–

(23)

Net assets acquired

–

55

Goodwill

–

45

Shareholders’ loan acquired

–

67,900

–

68,000

Cash consideration

–

20,000

Share consideration

–

48,000

–

68,000

–

20,000

Satisfied by:

Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
connection with the acquisition of subsidiaries

The subsidiary acquired during the year ended 30 June 2005 did not have any significant effect on the Group’s
cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2005.
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40.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY
On 20 June 2006, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose of its 100% equity
interest in 北 京 駿 雷 文 化 傳 播 有 限 公 司 to an individual third party for a cash consideration of HK$1, the
principal activity of which is investment holding. The gain on disposal of 北 京 駿 雷 文 化 傳 播 有 限 公 司 amounted
to approximately HK$53,000 has been credited to the income statement for the year.
THE GROUP
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

20

–

2

–

Cash and cash equivalent

53

–

Trade and other payables

(126)

–

(2)

–

(53)

–

53

–

–

–

Net assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories

Taxation payable

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Consideration satisfied by cash

Analysis of the net cash outflow in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is set out below:
THE GROUP

Cash consideration received

2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

–

–

Cash and cash equivalent disposed of

(53)

–

Net cash outflow in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary

(53)

–

The subsidiary disposed of during the year ended 30 June 2006 did not contribute significantly to the Group’s
cash and did not have material impact on the Group’s results as a whole.
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41.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
THE GROUP
2006

2005

HK$’000

HK$’000

Irrevocable letters of credit
Other trade guarantees

1,384

–

136

68

1,520

68

As at 30 June 2006, certain Hong Kong employees have achieved the required number of years of service to
the Group and the possible future long service payment to such employees amounted to HK$62,389 (2005:
HK$1,572,000).
On 1 September 2004, a writ of summons and statement of claim was made by The Center (49) Limited
against the Company in respect of the office previously rented by the Group. The claim is for a sum of
approximately HK$3.3 million together with interest and cost. In the opinion of the directors, the amount
claimed is unreasonable. The Group would vigorously contest against such claim. After obtaining legal advice,
a provision of approximately HK$1.6 million has been made in the financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2004. During the year ended 30 June 2006, there has been no significant progress. As at the date of
approval of these financial statements, the case is still pending for hearing.

42.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to the year end date, the convertible notes holders, Mr. Chan Yan To and Ms. Lam Wai Han have
confirmed to extend the repayment of the principal amount of convertible notes together with interest to 21
October 2007 and all terms and conditions of the convertible notes will remain unchanged.

43.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
As further explained above, due to the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs during the current year, the
accounting treatment and presentation of certain items in the consolidated financial statements have been
restated to conform with the current year’s presentation.

44.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 October
2006.
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Particulars of Major Properties

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Lease
Location
1.

Old Government

expiry
2063

Type
Commercial/

Building located at

Gross floor

Effective

area (sq.m.)

% held

9,001

100%

residential

Nature
For resale/
rental

Zhong Shan Road West,
Heng Li Zhen, Dongguan
Guangdong Province,
The PRC

2.

Commercial/residential

2043

Commercial/

development located at

6,534

100%

residential

For resale/
rental

Zhong Shan Road,
Heng Li Zhen, Dongguan
Guangdong Province,
The PRC

LEASEHOLD LAND AND BUILDINGS
Lease
Location
3.

Units 102-107,

expiry
2047

Effective
Type
Godown

% held
80%

Nature
Own use

1st Floor, Hong Leong
Industrial Complex,
4 Wang Kwong Road,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
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